IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2005-75-02357

RIVER REGION MEDICAL CORPORATION FILE PPELLANT / DEFENDANT

VS.

DEC 2 2 2006

RILEY NELSON, ET AL.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURAPPELLEES / PLAINTIFFS COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HON. ISADORE W. PATRICK, CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT / DEFENDANT, RIVER REGION MEDICAL CORPORATION

L. CARL HAGWOOD - MBN DAVID M. EATON, MBN JASON E. DARE - MBN WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON, P.A. 1417 Trailwood Drive, Suite C Post Office Box 4537 Greenville, Mississippi 38704-4537 Telephone: (662) 335-5555 Facsimile: (662) 335-5700

Counsel for Appellant / Defendant: RIVER REGION MEDICAL CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT ALLOWED EUGENE MICHAEL FINAN, M.D. TO EXPRESS OPINIONS AT TRIAL, OVER OBJECTION, THAT WERE NOT PREVIOUSLY DISCLOSED.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT REFUSED TO APPLY MISS. R. EVID. 702 AND ALLOWED TERRY SIVERLY TO TESTIFY AS TO NURSING STANDARDS OF CARE OUTSIDE HIS KNOWLEDGE, SKILL, EXPERIENCE, AND TRAINING.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ALLOWING HIGHLY INFLAMMATORY POST-MORTEM PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE BODY OF JENNIFER NETTLES TAKEN AT THE POST MORTEM EXAMINATION TO BE PUT IN EVIDENCE.
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY PROHIBITING DEFENDANT FROM PUTTING INTO EVIDENCE JENNIFER NETTLES' HABITUAL ABUSE OF ILLEGAL DRUGS.
- V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT ALL DAMAGES MUST BE EQUALLY DIVIDED BETWEEN THE THREE (3) PLAINTIFFS.
- VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO THE CLAIMS OF THOMAS PATTERSON.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death claim arising out of the death of Jennifer Nettles while a patient at River Region Health System ("River Region") following an emergency Cesarean section and elective tubal ligation. Suit was filed on behalf of Jennifer's "husband," Thomas Patterson, and her two daughters, Hallie and Brandi. Thomas Patterson and Jennifer Nettles were married in September of 1995, and lived together for approximately one month. (CT 6:880, lines 18-21). Jennifer had a daughter at that time, Hallie, whose biological father was Brent Nettles. Jennifer filed for divorce from Mr. Patterson on December 19, 1995, and although the divorce was never finalized, the two never lived together after that time and Jennifer changed her last name from Patterson to Nettles. (CP 10:1458-1462; CT 6: 880, line 21). On December 26, 2001, Jennifer was admitted to River Region in Vicksburg, Mississippi to give birth to her second daughter, Brandi, and to have a postpartal tubal ligation for sterilization purposes. (Defendant's Ex. 1, RRHS 178-179). Her obstetrician was Norman Connell, M.D., who decided at or before 12:00 noon that Jennifer must undergo a Cesarean section. (Id. at RRHS 225). Proper consent was obtained and witnessed by nurse Patti Gilmore. (Id. at RRHS 230-231). At or around this time Jennifer expressed to Nurse Gilmore her concern about whether she would obtain pain relief from the medication she would be given prior to delivery because of her past drug abuse. (CT 2:248, line 25 - 249, line 11).

Surgery started at or around 12:34 p.m., with delivery occurring at or around 12:43 p.m. (*Defendant's Ex. 1*, RRHS 195). Jennifer stayed in recovery until 2:30 p.m., at which time she was transferred to a private room under the care of Nurse Gwendolyn Brown. (*Id.* at RRHS 205). Nurse Brown assessed Jennifer upon her arrival to the floor at 2:30 p.m., then reassessed her at 2:45 p.m., 3:15 p.m., 3:45 p.m., 4:15 p.m., 5:00 p.m., 5:30 p.m. and 5:45 p.m. (*Id.* at RRHS 206-207) At 5:45

p.m., Nurse Brown entered Jennifer's room to change her sanitary pad, and found Jennifer to be dusky in color and unresponsive to tactile stimuli. (*Id.* at RRHS 207). A code blue was called at 5:47 p.m., but despite best efforts, Jennifer was pronounced dead at 6:02 p.m. (*Id.* at RRHS 207-208).

On January 3, 2002, Jennifer's parents (Riley & Dorothy Nelson), siblings (Amy Armstrong, Rebecca Nelson and Riley Nelson, Jr.) and minor daughter's (Hallie and Brandi Nicole) filed suit against River Region and Dr. Connell for wrongful death. (CP 1:11-14). At or around the same time, Amy Armstrong and her husband, Mark Armstrong, began adoption proceedings for Brandi in the Warren County Chancery Court. Mark Davidson was determined therein to be the biological father of Brandi, and on February 13 and March 20 and 22, 2002, the chancery court heard testimony. (*Proffer-Chancery Court Transcript*). As part of the proof in support of Amy's adoption attempts, Jennifer's mother and Amy (Jennifer's sister) testified that Jennifer's family had no relationship with Jennifer for approximately four years prior to her death due to Jennifer's habitual drug and alcohol abuse. (*Id.* at 137, line 16 - 138, line 4). Amy also testified that while her and Jennifer lived together, Jennifer used illegal substances in front of Hallie and that (in Amy's opinion) Hallie developed pneumonia because of neglect by Jennifer. (*Id.* at 159, line 16-25; 160, line 23 - 161, line 13; 167, line 21 - 168, line 2, lines 10-13).

In the wrongful death action filed against it, River Region propounded discovery to Plaintiffs on February 15, 2002, and requested the names and opinions, including basis thereof, of all Plaintiffs' experts. (CP 4:525-532). Plaintiffs were granted leave to amend their suit on January 23, 2003, and the wrongful death claimants were limited to Hallie, Brandi, Thomas Patterson, and the Estate of Jennifer Nettles. (CP 2:203-206, 208). On December 1, 2003, the trial court entered an Agreed Scheduling Order mandating that Plaintiffs designate and disclose opinions for their experts in compliance with MISS. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) on or before February 15, 2004. (CP 3:340-341). On or around February 10, 2004, Plaintiffs designated as a medical expert Dr. Michael E. Finan, but did not disclose opinions for him until 43 days after their expert designation deadline had expired (*i.e.* - on March 29, 2004). (CP 3:349-350); (CP 4:554-561); (CT 6:840, line 24 - 841, line 10). Defendant filed a Motion to Compel further disclosure on May 27, 2004, but withdrew the Motion once Plaintiffs represented that their expert's opinions were fully disclosed. (CP 5:679-699). On June 10, 2004, Plaintiffs filed their 4th Supplemental Responses to Defendant's expert witness Interrogatory, which disclosed new standard of care and causation opinions attributable to Dr. Finan. (CP 6:841-845). Defendant filed on June 15, 2004 a Motion to Strike Plaintiffs' Fourth Supplemental Responses to Discovery. (CP 6:807-887). At the hearing, Defendant moved *ore tenus*, in the alternative, to take the deposition of Dr. Finan. (CT 2:162, lines 26-29). Neither of the Motions were ruled upon by the trial court prior to trial.

Also prior to trial, the trial court on September 15, 2005 entered an Order granting Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the Claim of the Estate of Jennifer Nettles, leaving as the only remaining claims the three Plaintiffs' individual claims for loss of society and companionship. (CP 10:1410-1411). In reliance on this ruling, Defendant moved the trial court for Special Interrogatories to the Jury (CP 10:1452-1469), asking that the Jury decide the damage amount, if any, proven by each Plaintiff. Contained in the Motion for Special Interrogatories was the issue of whether Thomas Patterson and/or Jennifer Nettles had abandoned their marriage, thereby precluding Mr. Patterson from being a wrongful death beneficiary. At the hearing on these Motions on November 2, 2005, the trial court held that the question of abandonment of the marriage was a matter of law, not a question of fact for the Jury. (CT 2:188, lines 25-28). The trial court thereafter

held that Mr. Patterson had not abandoned the marriage and that all three wrongful death beneficiaries must be granted equal damages should a Jury return a verdict in their favor. (CP 11: 1545-1546).

At trial, Plaintiffs' theory of the case was that during the tubal ligation, Dr. Connell inadvertently cut an artery in the branch of the uterine arteries below the section of fallopian tube that was to be removed and Jennifer slowly exsanguinated, with the most active bleeding occurring two to two and one-half hours post-surgery (*i.e.* - from approximately 2:45 p.m. to 3:15 p.m.) (CT 6:845, line 17 - 846, line 29; 853, line 22 - 854, line 25). It was uncontested that Jennifer's vital signs were stable when she left the recovery room at 2:30 p.m., but Plaintiffs contended that Nurse Brown failed to recognize Jennifer's slow bleed from 2:30 p.m. to 5:45 p.m. and that Jennifer could not complain of pain because she was over-medicated. (CT 6:827, line 21 - 829, line 11). Defendant's theory of the case was that during the tubal ligation, Dr. Connell appropriately performed the procedure by clamping off and cutting the fallopian tubes and arteries running along side them and that around 5:30 p.m., one of the clamps pulled away from the artery and exsanguination of Jennifer's entire blood volume occurred within minutes. (CT 8:1125, line 23 - 1126, line 21). All parties agreed that under Defendant's theory, there would be no breach of the standard of care. (CT 6:852, line 4 - 23); (CT 8:1127, line 3 - 1128, line 4).

In support of their theory of the case, Plaintiffs called two "retained experts:" Terry Siverly, RN and Eugene Michael Finan, M.D. Terry Siverly was a registered nurse from New Orleans, Louisiana, who started out his nursing career at Charity Hospital in 1986 working in an adult isolation unit. (CT 5:745, lines 15-22). He worked on this ward for two years, which was the extent of his hospital experience. (CT 5:741, lines 6-14; 745, line 23 – 746, line 6); (CT 6:754, lines 22-25). He then worked four years at Charity Hospital in an Aids Clinic, caring again for infectious disease patients. (CT 5:746, lines 7-15). After leaving Charity, Mr. Siverly worked Home Health for six years, and thereafter has been employed by the Louisiana Department of Health, surveying nursing homes to ensure their compliance with federal regulatory standards. (CT 5:746, lines 16-21); (CT 6:755, lines 3-8; 756, lines 15-19). Mr. Siverly has never been a circulating nurse in an obstetrical unit or hospital unit nor has he ever worked in a labor and delivery unit. (CT 5:746, lines 22-27; 747, lines 6-19). Pursuant to MISS. R. EVID. 702, Defendant objected to Mr. Siverly being qualified as an expert to testify regarding nursing standards in surgery and/or labor and delivery due to his admitted lack of knowledge, training and background in this field of nursing. (CT 6:758, line 14 - 770, line 7). The trial court denied this Motion and allowed Mr. Siverly to state opinions on the nursing standard of care for obstetrical nurses. (CT 6:770, lines 8-10).

When Dr. Finan took the witness stand, he was allowed to testify that his opinion that the post-surgery bleed occurred in hours, not minutes, was based solely upon two blood counts taken on Jennifer Nettles, specifically her hematocrit levels on admission and at the time of resuscitation, despite the fact that these lab results were never referred to in his Affidavit, Supplemental Affidavit or Plaintiffs' 4th Supplemental Responses to Interrogatories. (CT 6:822, line 15 - 826, line 22; 853, lines 12-19). Also during trial, Plaintiffs were permitted, over objection, to put into evidence thirteen nude, post-mortem photographs of Jennifer Nettles by asserting their experts would make them relevant. (CT 4:539, line 25 - 541, line 2). The pictures, however, were never shown to Dr. Finan or Mr. Siverly, and were only shown to Dr. Hayne for identification purposes. The trial court never performed a MISS. R. EVID. 403 analysis of the pictures' probative value or potential for unfair prejudice. *See* (CT 4:540, lines 21-24). The trial court, alternatively, prohibited Defendant from

making any reference to Jennifer's habitual drug abuse, despite its probative value to the issues of the case and Plaintiffs "opening the door" for same by stating in closing, "[s]he would have been able to change herself...." (CT 9:1243, lines 4-12).

At the end of Plaintiffs' case-in-chief, not one word had been spoken regarding Thomas Patterson's damages. Despite there being no evidence on his damage claim, the trial court denied Defendant's Motion for a Directed Verdict as to the claims of Thomas Patterson. (CT 6:869, line 16-872, line 12). Defendant renewed its Motion for Directed Verdict after its case-in-chief (CP 11: 1605), but was again denied relief.

Following the conclusion of trial and a Jury verdict in favor of Plaintiff (CP 11:1610-1611), Defendant filed its Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on November 29, 2005 (CP 11:1623 - 1630), which was denied by the trial court on December 19, 2005. (CP 11: 1639). Aggrieved by multiple rulings made by the trial court, Defendant herein seeks relief through appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant brings forth nine claims of error by the trial court in six issues whereby it contends it is entitled to a reversal of the judgment against it. The first issue relates to Dr. Finan being allowed to testify that the basis of his opinions was blood counts taken on Jennifer Nettles prior to and after surgery, despite the fact that these opinions where never disclosed to Defendant. In Palmer v. Volkswagen of Am., Inc., 904 So. 2d 1077 (Miss. 2005), the Court held that "parties who file appropriate interrogatories seeking expert information [do not] acquire the additional burden of filing a motion to compel, where they are provided an answer which promises supplementation." Palmer, 904 So. 2d at 1090 (¶ 55). Despite this lack of burden, Defendant moved to compel further discovery regarding Dr. Finan, but withdrew the Motion in reliance on Plaintiffs' assertion that his opinions were disclosed. Upon disclosure of additional opinions of Dr. Finan, Defendant moved to exclude or in the alternative to take his deposition, but the trial court did not rule on either Motion. If Defendant had the burden to compel further discovery from Plaintiffs despite filing appropriate Interrogatories, this burden was met. Defendant clearly was prejudiced by the erroneous admission of this testimony since Dr. Finan was Plaintiffs' only physician expert, and these blood tests were the sole basis for his opinions of negligence and causation. Premised on the admission of this testimony by Dr. Finan, Defendant requests that the judgment in favor of Plaintiffs be reversed and the case be remanded back to the trial court for a new trial on liability and damages.

Defendant also contends it was reversible error for the trial court to qualify Terry Siverly as an expert in nursing standard of care in post-delivery, post-surgical monitoring when he admitted to having no prior experience, training or background in these areas. A witness may be accepted as an expert only when "the witness possesses scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge on a particular topic." *Sheffield v. Goodwin*, 740 So. 2d 854, 857 (¶ 10) (Miss. 1999). The particular nursing topic in this suit related to the care and treatment of immediately post-surgical, post-delivery patients in a hospital setting, a topic Mr. Siverly admitted to having no specialized knowledge on. For this reason the trial court committed reversible error in qualifying him as a nursing expert and in allowing him to testify as to nursing standards in labor and delivery. Defendant, therefore, requests that the judgment against it be reversed and remanded for a trial on liability and damages.

The trial court also committed reversible error by allowing into evidence thirteen nude, postmortem photographs of Jennifer Nettles that served no purpose but to inflame the Jury. Defendant moved to exclude these photographs pursuant to MISS. R. EVID. 403 on the ground that they were devoid of "any evidentiary purpose." *McNeal v. State*, 617 So. 2d 999, 1010-11 (Miss. 1993). Without analyzing the pictures' probative value or danger for unfair prejudice, the trial court allowed the photographs to be admitted into evidence. The trial court first abused its discretion by not conducting on the record a balancing of probative value versus prejudice. *Griffin v. McKenney*, 877 So. 2d 425, 438 (¶ 43) (Miss. App. 2003). The trial court likewise abused its discretion by allowing into evidence these photos that were nothing more than an attempt to "arouse the passion and prejudice of the jury." *McNeal*, 617 So. 2d at 1011. For these reasons, Defendant respectfully requests that the judgment against it be reversed and that this case be remanded for a new trial on liability and damages.

Premised upon Plaintiffs' first Motion *in limine*, the trial court precluded Defendant from making any reference to Jennifer's habitual use of illegal substances. This evidence was to be introduced to rebut Dr. Finan's opinion that Jennifer "lost the ability to complain [about pain]" due to two morphine shots given her while in the hospital. *See* (CT 6 : 828, line 29 - 830, line 3).

Jennifer stated to Nurse Gilmore that she received no benefit from the first of the two shots. The evidence of drug abuse was likewise probative to rebut any inference of loss of society and companionship claimed by Plaintiffs (*i.e.* - their only claim). Even assuming *arguendo* the trial court did not abuse its discretion it precluding evidence regarding Jennifer's habitual drug abuse, Plaintiffs opened the door by stating in closing arguments that "[s]he would have been able to change herself." *See Blake v. Clein*, 903 So. 2d 710, 726 (¶ 40) (Miss. 2005). Because the trial court erroneously precluded Defendant from introducing evidence of Jennifer's habitual drug abuse, Defendant requests that the judgment against it be reversed and the trial be remanded for a new trial on liability and damages.

Defendant's fifth issue relates to the claim of loss of society and companionship made by Plaintiff Thomas Patterson. Prior to trial, Defendant filed a Motion for Special Interrogatories to the Jury, so that the Jury could determine the amount of damages proven by each Plaintiff. Contained in this Motion was the issue of whether Thomas Patterson was entitled to be a wrongful death beneficiary. Because Jennifer filed for divorce three months after their marriage and six years prior to her death; she changed her name from Patterson to Nettles; the two did not live together for the six years between the filing for divorce and Jennifer's death; and Jennifer had another child (Brandi) by another man and Mr. Patterson fathered a child by another woman, Defendant asserts there was a clear intent by both to abandon the marriage. Where there is substantial evidence to show desertion or abandonment of the marriage, through marriage or divorce proceedings by either spouse, and not just a separation, a spouse can be prohibited from being classified as an heir-at-law. *Tillman v. Williams*, 403 So. 2d 880, 882 (Miss. 1981). Defendant asserts that the issue was a question of fact for the Jury to decide since it was a question of intent of the parties and the evidence pitted Defendant's position of abandonment against Mr. Patterson's position of separation. *See Duplantis* v. *State*, 708 So. 2d 1327, 1341 (Miss. 1998) ("Intent" is "question of fact for the jury"); *Lift-All Co., Inc. v. Warner*, 2006 WL 2884533, at *4 (¶ 15) (Miss. Oct. 12, 2006) (Evidence that pits one party's claims against another's is question of fact for jury). Defendant, therefore, respectfully requests that the judgment against it as to the claims of Thomas Patterson be reversed and the case be remanded for a trial on the issue of abandonment. In the alternative, Defendant respectfully requests that this Court hold Jennifer Nettles and/or Thomas Patterson did abandon their marriage and the judgment against it in favor of Thomas Patterson be reversed, with judgment in Defendant's favor being rendered.

Even if the trial court properly held that Jennifer Nettles and/or Thomas Patterson did not abandon their marriage, the Jury should have been allowed to assess separate damages on each Plaintiffs' separate claims for loss of society an companionship. The trial court held that the "equally distributed" language of MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-7-13 required the Jury to return identical damage verdicts for all claims of loss of society and companionship for each of these Plaintiffs. Contrary to this ruling, in order for "damages" to be "distributed," they must first be "recovered." MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-7-13. Defendant thus respectfully requests that the judgment against it be reversed and the case be remanded for a trial on damages as to the claims of Thomas Patterson.

Thomas Patterson should have likewise been judicially estopped from asserting a claim for loss of society and companionship due to his counsel's assertion at his deposition that he had no claim for loss of consortium. (CP Supp. 2:195, line 13 - 196, line 6). A loss of consortium claim is limited to a spouse's "loss of society and companionship, interference with conjugal rights and providing previously unnecessary physical assistance." *Am. Nat. Ins. Co. v. Hogue*, 749 So. 2d 1254,

1262 (¶ 29) (Miss. App. 2000). Because Mr. Patterson's only claim at trial was his individual claim for loss of society and companionship, and because his counsel claimed he did not have that claim at his deposition in order to avoid discovery on the issue, this Plaintiff should have been judicially estopped from asserting this claim at trial. *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160, 169 (¶ 35) (Miss. 2005); *In Re Estate of Richardson*, 903 So. 2d 51, 56 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2005). For this reason, Defendant respectfully requests that the judgment in favor of Thomas Patterson be reversed and judgment in favor of Defendant based on this Plaintiff's claims be rendered.

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