IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2005-TS-02357

RIVER REGION MEDICAL CORPORATION

APPELLANT / DEFENDANT

VS.

RILEY NELSON, ET AL

APPELLEES / PLAINTIFFS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE ISADORE W. PATRICK, CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE / PLAINTIFF THOMAS PATTERSON

PAUL KELLY LOYACONO - MSB WILLIAM A. HOOD - MSB WILLIAM A. PYLE - MSB 1025 Jackson Street Post Office Box 1150

Vicksburg, Mississippi 39181-1150

Telephone: 601-638-8282 Facsimile: 601-638-8296

E-mail: loyaconolaw@worldnet.att.net

Counsel for Appellee / Plaintiff Thomas Patterson

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2005-TS-02357

RIVER REGION MEDICAL CORPORATION

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The remaining Plaintiff, Appellee Thomas Patterson, the lawful husband of the Decedent, believes that the best way to consider the issues in this case is by an examination of the testimony of witnesses in this trial. These witnesses were evaluated by the jury, which under black letter law, "...is the sole judge of both the credibility of a witness and the weight of his testimony." Weathersby Chevrolet Co. v. Redd Pest Control Co., 778 So.2d 130, 133 (Miss.2001).

The jury found for the plaintiffs and awarded damages of \$1,710,000.

The only Appellee here is Thomas Patterson, the lawful husband of the Decedent, Jennifer Nettles, at the time of her death. Pursuant to the express language of the Mississippi Wrongful Death Statute, Thomas Patterson is asking this Court to affirm his right to 1/3 of the jury's verdict in this case. Affirming the jury's verdict for Thomas Patterson will not increase or decrease the recovery of any other wrongful death beneficiary of Jennifer Nettles.

A reversal of Thomas Patterson's share of the judgment would not help the other wrongful death beneficiaries, the two daughters of Jennifer Nettles. These children, relying on the Wrongful Death Statute Miss. Code. Ann. §11-7-13 and prior decisions of this Court, on point settled their

cases under the dictates of this well settled law. Perhaps the children should have gotten a greater amount of the judgment than Thomas Patterson, but they, their attorneys and the trial court all relied on the well settled law relative to Mississippi's Wrongful Death Statute and Mississippi's laws of descent and distribution.

A reversal in this case would require this Court to find that Thomas Patterson was not married to Jennifer Nettles at the time of her death. That would require this Court to find that a marriage can be terminated by one spouse simply walking away from the other. A finding that a marriage can be terminated without obtaining a divorce would affect not only Thomas Patterson, but would directly and adversely impact and disrupt the well settled law of this state in areas including, but not limited to:

- 1. Real estate titles;
- 2. The Legislature's statutorily established statutes relative to descent and distribution in Mississippi, and the plethora of chancery and appellate court decisions based on those statutes;
- The necessity of obtaining a divorce to terminate the rights and obligations of parties to a marriage, and numerous other long settled issues of family law;
- 4. Tax issues, including, but not limited to, the homestead exemption;
- 5. Insurance issues, e.g. how long would a spouse retain an insurable interest in the life of the other spouse; and
- 6. Numerous other areas of law which are relative to marital status and descent and distribution.
 - Allowing termination of a marriage without a divorce would contradict and overrule

the laws of Mississippi on marriage, as adopted by the Mississippi Legislature and would overturn judicial decisions rendered by this Court and the numerous decisions rendered by other state courts which were based on those Mississippi statutes.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Honorable Court has adhered to the following legal standard for review of a jury verdict:

[7] [8] [9] [10] \P 22. This Court applies the following standard to review an assertion that a jury's verdict is against the overwhelming weight of evidence and merits a new trial:

The grant or denial of a motion for new trial is and always has been a matter largely within the sound discretion of the trial judge. The credible evidence <u>must</u> be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. The credible evidence supporting the claims or defenses of the non-moving party should generally be taken as true. When the evidence is so viewed, the motion should be granted only when upon a review of the entire record the trial judge is left with a firm and definite conviction that the verdict, if allowed to stand, would work a miscarriage of justice. Our authority to reverse is limited to those cases wherein the trial judge has abused his discretion.

Green v. Grant, 641 So.2d 1203, 1207-08 (Miss.1994) (citing *574 Anchor Coatings, Inc., v. Marine Indus. Residential Insulation, Inc., 490 So.2d 1210, 1215 (Miss.1989)). See also Roussel v. Robbins, 688 So.2d at 723-24 (abuse of discretion standard); C & C Trucking Co. v. Smith, 612 So.2d 1092, 1099 (Miss.1992)(abuse of discretion standard). When evidence is in conflict, the jury is the sole judge of both the credibility of a witness and the weight of his testimony.

Weathersby Chevrolet Co. v. Redd Pest Control Co., 778 So.2d 130, 133 (Miss.2001). See also Wilmoth v. Peaster Tractor Co. of Lexington, Inc., 544 So.2d 1384, 1386 (Miss.1989).

[Emphasis added]

Dorrough v. Wilkes 817 So.2d 567, *573 -574 (Miss. 2002)

I. The trial court did not commit reversible error when it allowed Eugene Michael Finan, M.D. to express an opinion at trial, over objection, because there had been more than adequate disclosure to the River Region.

It is undisputed that Jennifer Nettles, while under the care of River Region, died of a massive blood loss a few hours after the caesarean birth of a baby daughter, Brandy.

Over a year prior to trial, the Plaintiffs disclosed to River Region Dr. Michael Finan's expert medical opinion, which was based on Jennifer Nettles's medical records and other evidence, including Dr. Steven Hayne's autopsy report, "...the bleeding which caused the Jennifer's death was caused by the laceration of a blood vessel in the area of the surgery that was not discovered by the physician...."

Dr. Stephen Hayne, the State Pathologist, conducted an autopsy on Jennifer Nettles and testified as to the cause of death. Dr. Hayne served as the State Pathologist for the State of Mississippi for 17-18 Years. [CT 5: 681 lines 17-18] When asked about the number of cases he has testified in, Dr. Hayne testified:

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Alright, and approximately have many times have you been accepted in various courts as an expert during

your career as a forensic pathologist?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. I don't keep an exact number,

Counselor, but somewhere around

4,000 times.

[CT 5:682 lines 8-12]

Dr. Hayne's educational background is:

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. I graduated from medical school from Brown University in Providence, Rhode Island. And I did my pathology training at Letterman Army Medical Center in San Francisco, rotating in different institutions in the San Francisco Bay area including the University of California Moffett Hospital, the U. N. Memorial Blood Bank, the Medical Examiner's Office the City and County of San Francisco, Children's Hospital, and also Sixth Army Medical Laboratory, and the last 6 months I spent in nuclear medicine.

[CT 5:677 line 21 - 678 line 3]

As the State Pathologist, Dr. Hayne conclusively established the cause of Jennifer Nettles death:

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Now, and this is what we have here. With regard to your autopsy that you performed on Jennifer Nettles, did you arrive at the cause of her death?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. I did, sir.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

O. And tell the jury what that was.

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. She died from a massive interabdominal hemorrhage or hemoperitoneum.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. And what --go ahead.

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. Due to small cut of a vessel crossing across the broad ligament.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Okay, and that would be the underlying cause of death?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. That is, sir.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. And that phrase, laceration of the vessel adjacent to the right fallopian tube. Could you explain to the jury what that is?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. It is a small defect in the wall of the vessel. The vessel is small. A little bit bigger than a paper clip and twice that diameter. And cause a massive blood loss in the abdominal cavity.

[CT 5: 700 lines 1-20]

AND:

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Now, in your opinion and to a

reasonable medical probability, was the site of the bleeding, the sutures, the site of the sutures, or the site what you called the laceration vessel?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. It was the vessel, Counselor. I didn't see bleeding specific to the suture. There was bleeding in the adjacent areas.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Now, how far removed from the area shown in Exhibit 16 was this vessel that you said was lacerated?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. It was right adjacent to it,

Counselor.

•••••

[CT 5:704 lines 2-11]

AND:

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Okay. Now, as the official pathologist in this case, is there any doubt in your mind as to the cause of her death being a laceration of that vessel?

BY DR. HAYNE:

A. No. sir.

[CT 5:704 lines 26-29]

River Region's complains about Dr. Finan's "slow bleed" testimony; however, River Region was told a year before trial that Dr. Finan's opinion was that bleeding came from a vessel lacerated during surgery and Jennifer died several hours after surgery. River Region was well aware that this

meant a slow bleed. In fact, River Region was the first to inject the slow bleed issue into the trial of this case. Mr. Hagwood, in his opening statement to the jury said:

Hagwood Opening Statement:

She [Jennifer] stayed in recovery for one hour. Now, the Plaintiff's theory of this case, listening to Mr. Loyacono, is that she was bleeding at this point and time. Has to, it's a slow bleed. She has to be bleeding. She is either bleeding at the time that Dr. Connell sewed her up or she isn't. [Emphasis added]

[CT 4:511 lines 22-28]

Dr. Finan simply gave his opinion that Jennifer had a "slow bleed" and referenced the medical records which had already been placed in evidence by River Region.

The taking of Dr. Finan's deposition was agreed to by the Plaintiff on two occasions, but the lead defense attorney, at that time, decided not to take the deposition of Dr. Finan and simply allowed the discovery period set by the Circuit Court to expire.

Dr. Finan was also rebutting issues raised by River Region's cross-examination of Dr. Hayne.

Dr. Finan, as an expert, had been present in the Courtroom during the cross-examination of Dr. Hayne. As an expert, Dr. Finan was entitled to rebut issues raised by River Region in the cross examination of Dr. Hayne.

Dr. Finan's testimony followed the testimony of Dr. Hayne, and one of the points on cross examination focused on by Mr. Hagwood was Dr. Hayne's testimony that Jennifer suffered a slow bleed out rather than the rapid bleed-out asserted by River Region. Dr. Hayne, the State Medical

Examiner, during this testimony showed the pictures from the autopsy, described the procedure, identified the lacerated blood vessel, and rendered his opinion relative to the amount of time that Jennifer Nettles was allowed to bleed to death. As was well known to River Region, this was a central issue in the testimony of Dr. Hayne, Dr. Finan, Dr. Morrison, and in the case in general.

After the testimony of Dr. Hayne, various references to the medical records, and the autopsy, Dr. Finan, rebutting River Region's cross examination of Dr. Hayne, pointed out that the medical records, including lab reports of hematocrit levels in the medical record [which had been previously introduced by River Region] showed that Jennifer had suffered a slow, rather than a fast, bleed-out.

Dr. Finan further testified that the C-section was not a necessary procedure in this case and that it was patently negligent for River Region to allow Jennifer Nettles to bleed to death.

Dr. Finan also observed the testimony of nurse Gwendolyn Brown. In rebuttal to the testimony of nurse Brown, an employee of River Region, Dr. Finan testified that the falsification of records by Gwendolyn Brown, a fact that she had denied in her testimony, was proven not only by the death of Jennifer Nettles, but also by the medical records, including reported changes in hematocrit levels.

Thus, the testimony of Dr. Finan concerning the hematocrit levels is simply an impeachment, not only of Nurse Brown, an employee of River Region, but also of Dr. Morrison, the Appellant's medical expert.

Dr. Connell, an employee of River Region and the Decedent's attending surgeon, did not testify.

River Region has not been prejudiced by the testimony of Dr. Finan. The Defendant's expert, Dr. Morrison, testified several days after Dr. Finan. River Region had every opportunity to fully

respond to the issues raised by Dr. Finan and Dr. Hayne. Nothing was presented to the Court that would show that River Region was prejudiced in any manner by the alleged lack of disclosure.

¶ 20. The standard of review for the admission or exclusion of testimony is abuse of discretion. Whitten, 799 So.2d at 13. "The admission of expert testimony is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Unless we conclude that the discretion was arbitrary and clearly erroneous, amounting to an abuse of discretion, that decision will stand." Roberts v. Grafe Auto Co., 701 So.2d 1093, 1098 (Miss.1997).

Crane Co. v. Kitzinger 860 So.2d 1196, *1201 (Miss.2003)

The Jury had the testimony of expert witnesses for both sides. "When evidence is in conflict, the jury is the sole judge of both the credibility of a witness and the weight of his testimony." Weathersby Chevrolet Co. v. Redd Pest Control Co., 778 So.2d 130, 133 (Miss.2001).

II. The trial court did not commit reversible error when it allowed Terry Siverly, R.N., B.S.N. to testify as to nursing standards of care.

There was no prejudice to River Region as this same testimony was given by Dr. Finan.

See for example:

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Now, are you familiar, and I think we asked this first, you are familiar with the standard of care that is to exercised by both nurses, and hospitals, and doctors, in these areas that we have been talking about?

BY DR. FINAN:

A. Yes, I am.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Okay. The evidence that you have heard and the material that you have read, have you arrived at an opinion to a reasonable, medical, probability as to whether or not the hospital, through its nurses and its doctors, met the standard of care that was due to Jennifer Nettles, deceased?

BY DR. FINAN:

A. Yes, I do have an opinion.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. And what is that opinion?

BY DR. FINAN:

A. My opinion is that the standard of care was not met in her care through her hospital stay.

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. And I need to ask you next then to illustrate or list those areas that you feel the hospital, through its employees, failed to meet the standard of care that was due to Jennifer Nettles?

BY DR. FINAN:

A. Well, initially, she was admitted to the hospital as a young lady having her second baby. And during the course of her evaluation it was decided that she needed Cesarean section. And I believe that, that that her being taken to the operating room was not necessary and was below the standard of care to have done that.

And in the process of doing the Cesarean section -- and then the tubular ligation, the doctor failed to discover at the end of the case, or after he had finished the tubular ligation that she continued to have bleeding. Then she was taken to the recovery room where she had an uneventful recovery. But once she reached the floor, both through medical errors and failure to monitor the patient was essentially ignored, and during that time she exsanguinated from, or bleed to death from a bleeding from this site that was left untended at the time of surgery. And that lead to her cardiopulmonary arrest and subsequent; death on the afternoon of December 26th.

[CT 6:812 line 2 - 813 line 11]

AND

BY MR. LOYACONO:

Q. Now, once we had the bleeding problem, in terms of reasonable medical probability, are there backups? Are there standards that require some other safety net down the road?

BY DR. FINAN:

A. Well, the biggest safety net is the

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